
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

MONROE DIVISION

RENEE STRINGER
Plaintiff,

v.

WESLEY HORTON, RICK TUCKER,
KRIS WALKER, AND THE TOWN OF
JONESBORO, LOUISIANA
Defendants

CIVIL ACTION NO.: 09-CV-01264

JUDGE: ROBERT G. JAMES

MAGISTRATEJUDGE:KARENL.HAYES

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

1.

This is a civil action seeking damages against defendants for committing acts

under color of law, and depriving plaintiff of rights secured by the Constitution and laws

of the United States and the State of Louisiana. This action is brought pursuant to 42

U.S.C. § 1983, 1988, and the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United

States Constitution, together with Article 1, §2 and §5 of the Louisiana Constitution, and

La. Civil Code Art. 2315, seeking redress for plaintiff for the actions and resultant

damages done and caused her by the conduct of the defendants.

2.

Jurisdiction is based on 28 U.S.C. §1331, §1343(a), §2201, and the statutory and

constitutional provisions referenced in the above paragraph. Plaintiff further invokes the

supplemental jurisdiction of this court under 28 U.S.C. §1367 to hear and decide claims

under state law.
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3.

Plaintiff is Renee Stringer, a citizen of the United States and resident of Jackson

Parish, Louisiana.

4.

Defendants are:

a) Wesley Horton (“Horton”), elected chief of police of the Town of

Jonesboro, Louisiana, and an adult citizen of the United States and State of

Louisiana who is sued in his official and individual capacities;

b) Rick Tucker (“Tucker”), assistant chief of police of the Town of Jonesboro,

Louisiana and an adult citizen of the United States and State of Louisiana who is

sued in his official and individual capacities;

c) Kris Walker (“Walker”), chief criminal investigator for the Jonesboro

Police Department, and an adult citizen of the United States and State of Louisiana

who is sued in his official and individual capacities;

d) Leslie Thompson (“Walker”), elected mayor of the Town of Jonesboro, and

an adult citizen of the United States and State of Louisiana who is sued in his

official and individual capacities; and

d) Town of Jonesboro, Louisiana (“Jonesboro”), a body politic and political

subdivision of the State of Louisiana.
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5.

Defendants Horton, Tucker, and Walker, while acting in their capacities as police

officers in the City of Jonesboro, Jackson Parish, State of Louisiana, deprived plaintiff of

her liberty without due process of law, made an unreasonable seizure of the person of

plaintiff, and thereby depriving plaintiff of her rights, privileges and immunities as

guaranteed by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United

States.

6.

Further, Defendants Horton, Tucker, and Walker utilized their position and

authority as law enforcement officers commissioned by the State of Louisiana to retaliate

against Plaintiff for her exercise of her First Amendment rights of free speech. Their

retaliatory actions were taken to silence her comments and criticisms of the Town of

Jonesboro Police Department.

7.

Defendant Thompson has utilized his position and authority as the chief executive

of the Town of Jonesboro to retaliate against Plaintiff for her exercise of her First

Amendment rights of free speech.

8.

The retaliation by Defendants is their response to her speech as a citizen and as an

elected official on matters of public concern, including but not limited to issues such as

crime, town finances and expenditures, the public fisc, and narcotics activity.
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9.

At all times material to this Complaint, these defendants acted toward plaintiff

under color of the statutes, ordinances, customs, and usage of the State of Louisiana,

Town of Jonesboro, and the Town of Jonesboro Police Department.

10.

Prior to the fall of 2006, plaintiff questioned the propriety of actions of the then

Mayor of the Town of Jonesboro and Wesley Horton, Chief of Police of the Town of

Jonesboro. Some of plaintiff’s criticisms were about the lack of law enforcement in her

neighborhood and the deplorable conditions in her neighborhood. Plaintiff chose to run

for the Town Council as a way of pushing for a better and healthier community. She was

elected to the Town Council for the Town of Jonesboro in the fall of 2006.

11.

Following her election, plaintiff frequently clashed with the new Mayor, Leslie

Thompson, and Horton as Chief of Police on numerous occasions. As an elected member

of the Town Council, she questioned the actions of the Mayor and Chief of Police.

12.

Plaintiff published an ad in the newspaper in Jonesboro, the Jackson Independent,

that listed the expenditures of the Town of Jonesboro for September 2008. On October

30, 2008, plaintiff authored a guest column published in the Jackson Independent that was

critical of the administration of the Town of Jonesboro. Plaintiff has frequently criticized
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the Mayor, his political associates, and the Chief of Police for mismanagement, wasteful

spending, violation of statutory mandates for local government, and generally misuse of

the public fisc and poor public administration.

13.

Plaintiff’s speech as a private citizen and public official is constitutionally

protected speech or conduct as her speech concerns issues of public interest such as the

public fisc and public administration. Plaintiff engaged in what has been described as one

of the principal characteristics by which a free nation is distinguished from a police state.

Though her speech was provocative and challenging, it is protected against censorship or

punishment.

14.

Defendants engaged in an ongoing campaign of intimidation, oppression,

resistance, lies, innuendo, false arrest and prosecution, false and defamatory language,

and other acts. Defendants participated in, instigated, or encouraged personal attacks on

plaintiff. Additionally, though plaintiff was a duly elected member of the Town Council,

she was routinely denied access to Town records. She was forced to resort to filing

public records requests with the Town to obtain records, many of which were routinely

provided to other members of the Town Council.

15.

Defendants engaged in multiple acts calculated to discourage, stifle, and retaliate

against Plaintiff for her constitutionally protected speech. These acts include but are not
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limited to placing the blame for traffic citations on Plaintiff, disregarding Plaintiff’s

requests for information, instructing town employees to not cooperate with Plaintiff,

refusing to address municipal problems in her district, unequal treatment of her council

district, and communicating malicious, false, and defamatory comments to members of

the public and town government.

16.

Defendants intended these acts to intimidate, discourage, and punish Plaintiff for

her constitutionally protected speech. Defendants were motivated at least in part as a

response to Plaintiff’s exercise of her constitutional rights.

17.

Defendants, either individually or collectively, have acted to discourage, stifle, and

retaliate against Plaintiff for her public and private comments regarding the town and

police department’s management, finances, personnel, and other issues of public concern.

18.

As a part of that retaliation, Defendants procured a contrived arrest and attempted

prosecution. On the evening of October 31, 2008, a fight started on the premises of a

rental dwelling across the street from plaintiff’s residence. Plaintiff called law

enforcement to respond. Because of the continued problems with the tenants and

condition of the rental property, plaintiff also called the owner of the property and left a

message for him with a quote of the language used in public by his tenant. The quoted

language included a profanity.
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19.

Subsequently on November 3, 2008, plaintiff was contacted by Tucker, as

Assistant Chief of Police, who instructed her to come to the Police Department as he

needed to talk to her. On her arrival, she was arrested by Walker. Walker refused to

provide her a copy of the warrant for her arrest, arrest report, or her bond. Further,

Walker did not inform her of the charges on which she was being arrested. Later

investigation uncovered that she was arrested for Improper Telephone Communication

under La.R.S. 14:285.

20.

The arrest of plaintiff was without probable cause or any justification whatever.

The instigation of the criminal matter by Horton and arrest of plaintiff by Walker was

motivated by personal enmity and retaliation on the part of Horton.

21.

The fact of plaintiff’s arrest was published in the newspaper and was widely

disseminated through actions of Horton, Tucker, and Walker.

22.

The charge of Improper Telephone Communication under La.R.S. 14:285 was

dismissed by the District Attorney on January 12, 2009.

23.

Plaintiff has sustained financial damages as a result of defendants’ actions. She

lost her job as a result of defendants’ actions. The actions of defendants also disrupted
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plaintiff’s pursuit of a college degree. Additionally, plaintiff sustained emotional distress

and anguish as a result of defendants’ actions.

24.

All actions of defendants Thompson, Horton, Tucker, and Walker were done under

color of state law, thus depriving plaintiff of her rights, privileges, and immunities

secured to her by the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States

Constitution as well as relevant portions of the Louisiana Constitution.

25.

By means of their unlawful arrest of plaintiff and the malicious charges placed

against her, defendants Horton, Tucker, and Walker intentionally, or with deliberate

indifference and callous disregard of Plaintiff’s rights, deprived plaintiff of her right to be

free of unreasonable searches and seizures, in violation of the Fourth and Fourteenth

Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

26.

By means of their actions calculated to intimidate or coerce Plaintiff, Defendants

intentionally, or with deliberate indifference and callous disregard of Plaintiff’s right to

free speech, deprived Plaintiff of her right to free speech unfettered by threats and actions

intended to chill and interfere with free speech.

27.

Plaintiff shows that she was engaged in constitutionally protected conduct; that

Defendants' adverse action caused her to suffer injury that would likely chill a person of

Case 3:09-cv-01264-RGJ-KLH   Document 17    Filed 05/07/10   Page 8 of 11



from continuing to engage in that conduct; and that the adverse action was motivated at

least in part as a response to the exercise of her constitutional rights. Such action is

unlawful retaliation and violates the First Amendment to the United States Constitution,

and 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

28.

The individual defendants conduct violated clearly established law. Further, such

conduct is shown to have been objectively unreasonable. These defendants deliberately

abused the power of their office by the malicious and defamatory communications,

refusal to grant plaintiff access to information to which she was entitled, false

accusations, arrest, and malicious prosecution of plaintiff as a means of retaliating against

plaintiff for her exercise of her freedom of speech.

29.

The actions of the individual defendants is wholly unrelated to any legitimate state

objective, were done in bad faith, were done maliciously, with deliberate indifference to

plaintiff’s constitutional rights, and with a callous and reckless disregard for the same.

An award of punitive damages against the individual defendants is warranted and sought.

30.

The conduct shown violates Article 1, §2 and §5 of the Louisiana Constitution.

31.

The conduct of the individual defendants was extreme and outrageous, and the

emotional distress suffered by plaintiff was significant. Defendants should have known
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that their actions would cause plaintiff emotional distress and thus their actions constitute

intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress on plaintiff.

32.

The Town of Jonesboro, as the employer of the individual defendants, is

vicariously liable under state law for these acts of the individual defendants.

33.

Because the injuries to plaintiff result from the actions that are the basis of

plaintiff’s complaint and stem from a common nucleus of fact, the Court is asked to

exercise its supplemental jurisdiction so that these state law claims may be heard and

adjudicated.

34.

Plaintiff requests and is entitled to a trial by jury on all issues so triable.

WHEREFORE, plaintiff Renee Stringer demands judgment against all defendants

jointly and severally, for compensatory damages and further demands judgment against

each of the individual defendants Thompson, Horton, Tucker, and Walker jointly and

severally, for punitive damages

FURTHER, plaintiff prays for such other relief as she may be entitled, including

reasonable attorney fees, interest, costs of this action and such other relief as to this Court

seems just, proper, and equitable.
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Respectfully submitted,

Law Offices of
Elton B. Richey, Jr.
Elton B. Richey, Jr.
Louisiana Bar Number 21836
Suite 1805, 400 Travis Street
Shreveport, Louisiana 71101
318-227-1460
COUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF

/s Henry M. Bernstein
Henry M. Bernstein, Attorney at Law
Louisiana Bar Number 03011
4442 Viking Loop, Suite 100
Bossier City, Louisiana 71111
Tel. No. (318) 752-3335
Fax No. (318) 752-3315
COCOUNSEL FOR PLAINTIFF

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that a copy of the foregoing was served on May 6, 2010 on the counsel or

parties listed below by CM/ECF or by U.S. Mail, postage prepaid and properly addressed

where so noted.

/s Henry M. Bernstein
OF COUNSEL

Joseph B. Stamey
J. Mark Miller
Stamey and Miller, L.L.C.
Post Office Drawer 1288
Natchitoches, Louisiana 71458
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